FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/10/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
6/10/2024 10:45 AM

Case #: 1031564

No. 85537-9

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEPHEN LUDWIG, a single man; ROSS KLINGELE and ARRIETTE BURN, a marital community,

Appellants,

v.

## CITY OF MOUNTLAKE TERRACE, a municipal corporation, Respondent

ON APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT J. SIEGEL Attorney At Law (WSBA # 1732) PO BOX 155, Chimacum, WA 98325 Phone/FAX: (888) 839-3299 Email; siegelbob@gmail.com

Attorney for Appellants

## **

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:**

- 1. The Court of Appeals' decision affirming claim preclusion (4/15/2024) conflicts with a decision of the Washington State Supreme Court; *Sigurdson v. City of Seattle* (48 Wn.2d, 1956), and with a decision of the Appeals Court; *Pruitt v. Douglas County* (116 Wn. App. 547 Wash. Ct. App. 2003).
- **2.** The Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE:

In 2014, while demolishing a concrete walkway between their recently purchased house and Hall Creek (in preparation for re-paving), Plaintiffs uncovered a large cavity. Stormwater exiting the outlet of a nearby culvert had scoured away the Creek bottom along an existing protective bulkhead, thus undercutting it and eroding the fill out from behind. The bulkhead has subsided and cracked in half, putting the home's west foundation at risk.

The City refused to accept any responsibility for repairs, and plaintiffs eventually (2017) filed a claim (herein the "Predecessor Case") in Snohomish County Superior Court alleging negligence by the City for its 1970 construction of

culverts and other channel changes. During the Predecessor proceedings, Plaintiffs moved for preliminary injunctive relief based on the City's duty to repair and maintain the waterway. This motion was denied without prejudice pending trial. (Order denying Mandatory Injunction, 11/10/2020.

At trial, the Court found that the City did have a duty to maintain and repair the waterway and that it had breached that duty by failing to provide protection for the banks of the deeper channel it had excavated. However, the Court could not determine that the protection specified by the City's hired engineering firm (Reid, Middleton and Associates) would have been sufficient to prevent the subsequent damage. The case was thus denied as to negligence for failure to prove proximate cause. (Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, 2/3/2023).

With their claim for damages denied, but the City's duty of care confirmed, Plaintiffs filed the instant complaint based on the City's failure to abide by its duty of care and asking for injunctive relief (4/17/2023). The City moved for dismissal (granted 6/20/2023). Plaintiffs appealed (7/12/2023). The City alleged res judicata (also that the complaint was time barred and subject to laches), claiming that the Trial Court's denial of the negligence claim released it from any responsibility to repair the damage. The Court of Appeals agreed regarding claim preclusion but did not rule on the other factors. Plaintiffs moved for reconsideration, which was denied without comment.

#### **ARGUMENT:**

1. "Where the municipality assumes the maintenance duties and control over the drainage system, it has a duty to exercise reasonable care in the repair and maintenance of the system. Sigurdson, 48 Wash.2d at 159-62, 292 P.2d 214; Tombari v. City of Spokane, 197 Wash. 207, 211-12, 84 P.2d 678 (1938); Boyer v. City of Tacoma, 156 Wash. 280, 287-88, 286 P. 659 (1930); Hayes v. City of Vancouver, 61 Wash. 536, 538, 112 P. 498 (1911). This duty exists regardless of who constructed the drainage system. Phillips, 136 Wash.2d at 966, 968 P.2d 871; Sigurdson, 48 Wash.2d at 161, 292 P.2d 214."

This passage (Quoted from Pruitt v. Douglas County, 66 P.3d 1111 (Wash. Ct. App. 2003), under "Causation:") describes the duty of care assumed by the City of Mountlake Terrace when it undertook to build the culverts and channel changes along Hall Creek in 1970. That this duty is ongoing should be obvious from the simple meaning of the word "maintenance." Yet in ruling that claim preclusion barred Plaintiffs' complaint, the Court of Appeals has affirmed an opinion put forth by Defendant (and Movant), City of Mountlake Terrace, "...that Ludwig did "not meet its burden to prove [the City's alleged] failure to properly install the 150pound rocks proximately caused damage" to the Ludwig's property..." and that "Judge Moore's ruling would prevent finding in favor of Ludwig in the present matter." (Brief of Respondent, page 22 (Emphasis added). And in the Court's words: "Considering the first Rains factor, whether rights or interests established in the prior judgment would be destroyed or impaired by prosecution of the second action, allowing the Homeowners to proceed in this lawsuit would impair the City's interest in maintaining the judgment in the 2017 Lawsuit that concluded it was not liable to the Homeowners." No. 85537-9-1, Division One, Unpublished Opinion, 4/15/2024, page 8 (Emphasis added).

In fact, a finding in favor of Plaintiffs on the present matter would have no effect whatever on Judge Moore's ruling. As Plaintiffs have previously pointed out "It was the City's *culpability for having caused* the discovered damage to Plaintiffs' bank armor that was denied." *Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration, page 3*). As a result, Plaintiffs received no award of damages. This result will remain unchanged even if Plaintiffs succeed with their new complaint.

## A. City's Nonfeasance Underpins Case at Bar:

Just as the City must fill potholes on its streets no matter the cause, so too must it repair and maintain the Hall Creek stormwater conveyance system over which it exercises ministerial control (with a drainage easement). Its duty to do so does not require that any fault be assigned. In the Predecessor Case, Plaintiffs alleged fault in the original 1970 construction as being the cause of the damage to bank armor protecting their house. In the case at bar, no fault is alleged regarding construction. Instead, it is the City's failure to initiate repairs since discovery of damage in 2014 that motivates the complaint.

By way of comparison: If in the Sigurdson case cited above, proximate cause for the damaging slide was not found in Sigurdson's favor, would that finding have relieved the City of Seattle of its duty to repair the failing drainage system? Plaintiffs think not. In the instant case, can uncertainty as to the cause of damage (and resulting lack of award to homeowners) abolish the City of Mountlake Terrace's duty to repair and maintain the bank armor? Again, Plaintiffs think not. The 2017 lawsuit's judgment concluded that the City was not liable for proximately <u>causing damage</u> to the bank armor, not that it was no longer liable for maintenance and repair.

The Court's Opinion then states (page 8): "While the Homeowners now allege that the scope of the City's duty was broader than a duty of care in following RMA's construction plans and, thus, the City breached an ongoing duty by its failure to repair and maintain the waterway since, **they could have and should have brought this theory forward in the 2017 Lawsuit.**" *No.* 85537-9-1, *Division One, Unpublished Opinion, 4/15/2024, page 7* (emphasis added). The Opinion goes on to state (page 8): "Similarly, the third Rains factor, whether the two suits involve infringement of the same right, in both suits, the Homeowners allege an interest in redress for the City's breach of a **duty to maintain and repair** the Hall Creek waterway." (emphasis added). Did Plaintiffs bring this "broader

duty" forward in the 2017 lawsuit or not? The Appellate Court's Opinion contradicts itself on this point.

The duty ascribed by the Trial Court necessarily includes proper repair, proper maintenance and proper construction. In *Prather v. Spokane*, 29 Wash. 549, 550, 70 P. 55, 55 (1902), the Court states:

"The city having exercised its option to construct a bicycle path, the same rules must apply to the method and care in the **construction** and maintenance as applies where there is a duty imposed by law, to so **construct and maintain** the path or street or walk that the same may be reasonably safe for the ordinary use for which it was intended." (Emphasis added).

This duty cannot be unbundled into three separate duties. Thus, the Trial Court's conclusion that the City had a duty of care assumes repair and maintenance even though its denial as to negligence applied solely to the element of construction.

## **B.** Hall Creek not Natural:

If Hall Creek were a "natural watercourse," and the City had elected to forego the 1970 culvert and channel changes (with damage simply resulting from increased rate of flow caused by upstream development), language in *Patterson v. Bellevue*, 37 Wn. App. 535 might apply: "...an upland owner may hasten the flow of surface waters draining into a **natural watercourse** provided it does not increase the quantity of water naturally reaching the lowland owner." (Emphasis added). However, Hall Creek's natural state (where it crosses Plaintiffs' property)

is but a distant memory. When the City commenced construction of the channel changes in 1970, the Creek already sported a smaller CMP culvert, the existing concrete bulkhead, and riprap bank armor on both streambanks stretching the length of Plaintiffs' property. The City then added a larger concrete box culvert whose outlet dumps stormwater preferentially against the east bank and now-damaged bulkhead. To accommodate the larger culvert, a deeper channel was excavated in the creek bottom.

Reid, Middleton's plans for the channel changes identified a need to protect Plaintiffs' bank armor from the scour that would result from a larger culvert and deeper excavation of the creek bottom. A duty to so protect was thus established, even if the specified protection (a row of 150-pound rocks on each side) was later deemed insufficient. Plaintiffs did bring "...this theory forward in the 2017 Lawsuit." The Trial Court ruled in their favor on duty of care (*Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law*, 2/3/2023, page 5 at 23), and the instant case is predicated on this ruling. Claim preclusion cannot apply.

The formulation put forth by both the City and Court of Appeals directly contradicts the plain wording of the State Supreme Court regarding the nature and term (ongoing) of the City's duty to repair and maintain as cited in Pruitt, and in this case, it would seemingly erase that duty if allowed to stand.

2. Plaintiffs' petition involves an issue of vital importance to riparian property owners, and by extension, to anyone who depends on infrastructure over which a municipal corporation or other entity has ministerial control: Can the duty of care bestowed by this control be curtailed short of divestment of said control? That the City of Mountlake Terrace's Counsel, a Superior Court judge and three judges at the Division One Court of Appeals seem confused on this issue would militate in favor of a more direct and complete ruling from the Supreme Court.

While all upstream and downstream property owners (including the City) are bound by the Common Enemy Doctrine with its three exceptions, only the City of Mountlake Terrace (in the case of Hall Creek) is burdened by the additional duty to repair and maintain the stormwater conveyance system's infrastructure. The relation between these two very different duties should be clarified by the Supreme Court. If such a clarification had been in place in 2014 when damage to Hall Creeks bank armor was discovered, the City might have better understood its duty of care and initiated repairs. Instead, despite a Trial Court's ruling to the contrary, the City has yet to affirm its duty. Consequently, a great number of pleadings, hearings and a trial have served to bother the Parties and Courts alike.

## **CONCLUSION:**

In view of the reasons and arguments outlined above, as well as those presented in their pleadings, Plaintiffs pray that this Court will:

- 1. Reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals in case number No. 85537-9-1 (filed 4/15/2024) affirming dismissal of Plaintiffs' Snohomish County Superior Court case No. 23-2-03052-31.
- 2. Vacate the award of Attorney's' Fees and Costs granted by the Snohomish County Superior Court to the City of Mountlake Terrace.
- 3. Vacate the award of CR 11 sanctions against Plaintiffs' Attorney, Robert J. Siegel.
- 4. Direct the Superior Court to return funds held as a cash supersedeas bond to Plaintiff Stephen Ludwig.
- 5. Clarify implications of the ongoing duty of care acquired by the City of Mountlake Terrace when it assumed ministerial control of the Hall Creek stormwater conveyance system in 1970, especially concerning that portion of the system that crosses Plaintiffs' property.