FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/10/2024 9:51 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1031564

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STEPHEN LUDWIG, a single man; ROSS KINGELE and ARRIETTE BURN, a marital community,

Petitioners,

vs.

CITY OF MOUNTLAKE TERRACE, a municipal corporation,

Respondent.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Hillary J. Evans WSBA No. 35784 Kenyon Disend, PLLC 11 Front Street South Issaquah, Washington 98027-3820 (425) 392-7090 Hillary@KenyonDisend.com Attorneys for Respondent City of Mountlake Terrace

# **

### IV. FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION

### A. Predecessor Case and Prior Action for Injunction.

Ludwig owns property abutting Hall Creek located within the City. CP 84, ll. 10–12. In 2017, Ludwig sued the City ("2017 Lawsuit") for damages related to the City's actions in 1969 and 1970, alleging work scoured their channel bank, damaged their bulkhead, and impacted their ability to sell their property. CP 8, 11. 2–4. Ludwig claimed that, in 2014, they discovered alleged damage to their property which they contend was caused by the City. CP 62, In. 1. The 2017 Lawsuit was thoroughly and completely litigated. CP 85. Ludwig moved for injunctive relief against the City in the 2017 Lawsuit on October 20, 2020, related to Hall Creek; Ludwig admits they "moved for a Preliminary Injunction" which "would have required the City to abide by its duty . . . and make appropriate repairs of Hall Creek's east bank armor near their home." CP 87 (emphasis added). The Hon. David A. Kurtz denied the Motion for Mandatory Injunction on November 10, 2020, stating, "It is hereby ordered that the

Plaintiffs' Revised Motion for a Mandatory Injunction is respectfully denied." CP 98. As summarized in the Petitioners' Complaint in the instant case:

> After five Motions for Summary Judgment, one Motion for а Mandatory Injunction, three motions for reconsideration and one aborted trial (case dismissed on a zoom trial technicality, with dismissal subsequently vacated), case# 17-2-04430-31 was finally tried on September 13, 2022. Plaintiffs alleged negligence on the part of the City for damage to the bank armor that defended the west foundation wall of their house. Stormwater exiting the culvert outlet at 226th Place SW was being cast against the east bank of Hall Creek causing scour and erosion (as described above).

CP 85. The Honorable Karen D. Moore found Ludwig met their burden regarding the City's alleged breach of duty, but that Ludwig did *not* meet their burden to establish elements of causation or damages. CP 96. Ludwig moved for and was denied reconsideration. CP 43–44. The 2017 Lawsuit was not appealed. Ludwig was represented by attorney Robert J. Siegel throughout the 2017 Lawsuit. CP 97.

The trial court filed the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the 2017 Lawsuit on February 3, 2023. CP 35.

B. <u>Relitigation: the Present Case</u>.

Twenty-one days after the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were filed, Ludwig filed a "new" claim for damages with the City on February 24, 2023, realleging the City's actions caused flooding at and damage to Ludwig's property. CP 29. In response, on March 21, 2023, the City, through counsel, warned Ludwig against filing a new lawsuit based on the same facts and causes of action:

> Any attempt to relitigate this claim is prohibited under Washington law by the doctrine of claim preclusion, or *res judicata*. <u>Pederson v. Potter</u>, 103 Wn. App. 62, 67 (2000). This doctrine prevents repetitive litigation of the same matters, ensuring integrity and finality in the legal system. <u>Id.</u> at 71. Likewise, your claim is barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel. When a subsequent action is on a different

claim, yet depends on issues which were determined in a prior action, the relitigation of those issues is barred by this doctrine. <u>City of Arlington v.</u> <u>Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt.</u> <u>Hearings Bd.</u>, 164 Wn.2d 768, 791-92 (2008).

If you file a lawsuit based on the claims in your February 23, 2023 tort claim form, that lawsuit will be frivolous.

"A lawsuit is frivolous when it cannot be supported by any rational argument on the law or facts." <u>Tiger Oil</u>, 88 Wn. App. 925, 938 (1997). Under RCW 4.84.185, the City will be entitled to reasonable expenses, including its attorneys' fees, incurred in opposing a frivolous lawsuit. Please consider this letter formal notice that the City will pursue sanctions under RCW 4.84.185 if you file a lawsuit based on the allegations in your tort claim form.

If you retain counsel to file suit, the City requests you provide a copy of this letter to them, as under CR 11 any attorney filing a frivolous lawsuit on your behalf will be subject to the same sanctions, including attorneys' fees, that will be recoverable against you personally. CP 32–33 (emphasis in the original). The City received no response. CP 29.

Despite this warning, Ludwig, again represented by Mr. Siegel, filed the present lawsuit on April 26, 2023. CP 82. The Complaint filed in this case quotes extensively from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law in the 2017 Lawsuit, essentially realleging damages already litigated. CP 84–90. The Complaint sought an injunction ordering:

> The City of Montlake Terrace 1. shall cease and desist directing concentrated and damaging against Hall Creek's stormwater vulnerable east channel bank near Plaintiffs' house. without also providing proper protection for said bank.

> 2. The City of Mountlake Terrace shall be required to immediately maintain, repair or replace Hall Creek's already damaged bank armor along Plaintiffs' property to current standards in accordance with its established duty.

CP 90. Ludwig again based their Complaint entirely on the City's actions in 1969 and 1970, realleging that the work scoured their channel bank, damaged their bulkhead, and impacted their ability to sell their property. CP 88–89. Despite not seeking financial compensation in the present case, fundamentally, Ludwig's request for injunctive relief arises once more from allegations of negligence—the very same cause of action for which Judge Moore determined Ludwig failed to prove causation in the 2017 Lawsuit. CP 96. Here, the relief requested would require the City to spend money to correct the alleged defects in Hall Creek—relief that was specifically considered and rejected in the 2017 Lawsuit.

As promised in the City's March 21, 2023, letter to Ludwig (CP 32–33), the City moved for dismissal shortly after the new Complaint was filed. Judge Mary Beth Dingledy granted the City's Motion to Dismiss, and the matter was dismissed on June 21, 2023. CP 50–51. Ludwig's subsequent Motion for Reconsideration (CP 13) was denied. CP 1. The City then moved to recover its attorneys' fees and costs. CP 18. That motion was granted on June 29, 2023. CP 2. The court specifically found Ludwig's lawsuit was barred by res judicata and the statute of limitations. CP 3. The court determined:

[F]iling of this lawsuit was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause; thus, Plaintiffs shall pay the City's attorneys fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.84.185.

The filing of this lawsuit is neither well-grounded in fact, nor warranted by existing law, Plaintiffs and Plaintiffs' attorney therefore violated CR 11.

CP 3. The court awarded the City its attorneys' fees and costs in

the amount of \$5,826.08 and granted CR 11 sanctions against

Ludwig and their attorney in the amount of \$1,000. CP 4.

## V. ARGUMENT FOR DENIAL OF REVIEW

A. Ludwig Fails to Satisfy RAP 13.4(b).

RAP 13.4(b) provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:
(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Ludwig fails to satisfy any of the criteria described in RAP

13.4(b) necessary to warrant review by this Court.

B. <u>The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Wholly Consistent with</u> <u>the Decisions of this Court, the Courts of Appeals, and the</u> <u>U.S. Supreme Court (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2))</u>.

Ludwig's Petition identifies the following issue presented

for review:

The Court of Appeals' decision affirming claim preclusion (4/15/2024) conflicts with a decision of the Washington State Supreme Court; *Sigurdson v. City of Seattle* (48 Wn.2d, 1956), and with a decision of the Appeals Court; *Pruitt v. Douglas County* (116 Wn. App. 547 Wash. Ct. App. 2003). Petition at 6. Ludwig's comparison of those two cases is cursory at best. <u>Id.</u> at 10.

In <u>Sigurdson</u>, a landowner filed a negligence action against the City of Seattle for injury to property from a landslide due to water escaping from the City's wooden drainage pipe. 48 Wn.2d at 157. The <u>Sigurdson</u> case fails to address injunctive relief (sought in the present case's Complaint) or claim preclusion (the basis on which the trial court dismissed this matter). There is no conflict between the present case and <u>Sigurdson</u>.

In <u>Pruitt</u>, landowners brought negligent trespass and inverse condemnation claims against Douglas County, after the County's road improvements diverted surface water which flooded landowners' property. 116 Wn. App. at 552-53. Division Three of the Court of Appeals determined a genuine issue of material fact existed as to whether the County's road improvements constituted a taking, thus precluding summary judgment. <u>Id.</u> at 560. The case did not address injunctive relief or claim preclusion. There is no conflict between the present case and <u>Pruitt</u>.

While both <u>Sigurdson</u> and <u>Pruitt</u> discuss flooding—which is alleged in both Ludwig's 2017 Lawsuit for damages and the present case—neither opinion contains law relevant to the issues addressed by the Court of Appeals in the instant matter. Ludwig appears, again, to be relitigating the damage claims made in the 2017 Lawsuit. Ludwig fails to demonstrate review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

C. <u>No Significant Issue of Substantial Public Interest Exists</u> <u>Sufficient to Grant Review (RAP 13.4(b)(4))</u>.

Ludwig's second issue states, "The Petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court." Petition at 6. Ludwig then notes:

> Plaintiffs' petition involves an issue of vital importance to riparian property owners, and by extension, to anyone who depends on infrastructure over which a municipal corporation or other entity has ministerial control: Can the duty of care bestowed by this control be curtailed short of divestment of said

control?

Petition at 13 (emphasis removed).

This is a straightforward case of claim preclusion. There is no widespread public interest involved. Ludwig fails to demonstrate review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# VI. CONCLUSION

Ludwig's Petition fails to satisfy any of the criteria for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Ludwig's Petition should be denied.

\*This document contains 1,861 words, excluding the parts

of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.